Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

8/1/2013

Uma Mudaliar

Date

Do lifestyle interventions modeled after the Diabetes Prevention Program change weight, blood glucose and A1c? A meta-analysis

By

Uma Mudaliar

Masters in Public Health

Global Health

Mohammed Ali _ M.S., MBChB, MBA

Committee Chair

Do lifestyle interventions modeled after the Diabetes Prevention Program change weight, blood glucose and A1c? A meta-analysis

By

Uma Mudaliar

B.A., University of Texas at Austin, 2005

M.D., University at Texas Southwestern Medical Center, 2009

Thesis Committee Chair: Mohammed Ali, M.S., MBChB, MBA

An abstract of

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Public Health in Global Health 2013

Abstract

Do lifestyle interventions modeled after the Diabetes Prevention Program change weight, blood glucose and A1c? A meta-analysis

By Uma Mudaliar

This manuscript is a systematic review and meta-analysis of studies in the US which implemented principles tested in the Diabetes Prevention Program's Lifestyle Intervention, which has shown to effectively help participants with prediabetes decrease their risk of progressing to diabetes by 58%. We included all US based studies published between January 2003 and April 2011 which evaluated a DPP based intervention in people 18 years and older at high risk of diabetes which reported pre- and post-intervention values in weight, fasting blood glucose, or hemoglobin A1c.

A total of thirty-two studies met eligibility for inclusion in this meta-analysis by reporting one or more outcomes of interest. All studies reported weight change, seventeen had pre- and post-intervention data on FBG (capillary or venous), and six had follow up measures on HbA1c. In total, there were 5,094 participants enrolled across all studies. On average, participants' mean age was 54.5 years, 73.1% were female, and BMI was 34.0 kg/m².

Mean absolute weight change was -4.18 kg (95% CI: -5.12; -3.24), mean change in A1c was -0.19%% (95% CI: -0.28; -0.11) and mean change in fasting blood glucose was -2.68 mg/dl (95% CI:-4.15; -1.11). Despite the modifications made to the original DPP intervention, the translation into real world settings still accomplished similar decreases in weight, FBG and HbA1c as the original DPP study.

Diabetes is fortunate to have an early, reliable predictor of future disease risk. The opportunity to intervene early in approximately 79 million in the US with prediabetes with timely referral to lifestyle intervention programs is currently missed. Although patients are often advised to lose weight and make dietary changes, the ability of standard advice alone is not effective. Many of these programs show great promise in decreasing the cost, incidence, morbidity and mortality of diabetes.

Do lifestyle interventions modeled after the Diabetes Prevention Program change weight, blood glucose and A1c? A meta-analysis

By

Uma Mudaliar

B.A., University of Texas at Austin, 2005

M.D., University at Texas Southwestern Medical Center, 2009

Thesis Committee Chair: Mohammed Ali, M.S., MBChB, MBA

An abstract of

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Public Health in Global Health

2013

Table of Contents

Introduction 1
Methods
Study Selection
Quality Assessment
Data Analysis 4
Results
Findings Stratified by Outcome
Figure 1: Mean weight change of study participants7
Figure 2: Mean change in fasting blood glucose in study participants
Figure 3: Mean change in A1c in study participants9
Discussion10
Limitations12
Conclusion
Implications and future directions13
Appendix
Exhibit A: Search strategy
Exhibit B: List of search terms
Exhibit C: Complete List of Articles 19
References:

Introduction

Diabetes currently affects approximately 12% of the US population.¹ Together with an ageing population and rising incidence, prevalence is estimated to increase to 25% by 2050.² An additional 35% of US adults (79 million adults) 20 years or older have prediabetes, which puts them at over 4 times the risk of progression to diabetes compared to those who are normoglycemic.^{3,4} Adults with diabetes have 2 to 4 times higher rates of death from heart disease or stroke, and have medical expenses that are more than two times higher than for people without diabetes.⁵ Diagnosed diabetes alone led to an economic burden of \$245 billion in 2012, with \$176 billion in direct medical expenditures secondary to higher use of healthcare services in this population. This translates to over \$700 for every American regardless of disease status.⁵⁻⁷

There is however evidence that diabetes onset can be delayed, at least in people at high-risk of converting (i.e., those with prediabetes). Large studies, including the US Diabetes Prevention Program (DPP) Study, have shown that intensive and structure lifestyle interventions can lower the incidence of diabetes, relative to basic lifestyle advice, by 58%.⁷⁻¹² Although primary prevention of diabetes through lifestyle intervention is deemed cost-effective, the first year costs of the DPP study lifestyle intervention was prohibitively expensive (\$1,399 per participant), which limits scalability for the nearly 79 million Americans with prediabetes who would be eligible for intervention.¹³⁻¹⁵ To find lower-cost alternatives to the resource-intensive DPP intervention, a number of studies have modified the original DPP- lifestyle intervention for typical clinic and community settings in the US. Lifestyle and cultural patterns vary significantly, across and even within communities, necessitating tailoring of interventions to the populations depending on regional and ethnic differences. Across these studies in diverse U.S. settings which utilize the same DPP principles with the aim of reducing diabetes incidence, little is known about the effectiveness of the interventions on aggregate, and even less is known regarding the impacts of these interventions on actual glycemia levels.

Increased levels of glycemia in the prediabetes range can be a simple and accurate predictor not only of future type 2 diabetes risk but also increased risk of subsequent cardiovascular disease.¹⁶ To update a prior meta-analysis which evaluated aggregate weight change across diabetes prevention translation studies, and to investigate the change in glycemic markers (fasting blood glucose [FBG] and glycated hemoglobin [HbA1c]),¹⁷ we systematically compiled all existing and new data and performed a meta-analysis.

Methods

Study Selection

The search strategy used for the prior meta-analysis included studies published from January 2003 to April 2011.¹⁷ To identify all additional studies, we systematically searched the same databases (MEDLINE, EMBASE, Cochrane Library, and Clinicaltrials.gov electronic databases) for translation (or effectiveness) studies based in the US that were published between April 1, 2011 to April 1, 2013 which assessed lifestyle interventions which adhered to the DPP trial principles in real world settings. The original trial emphasized calorie restriction together with a minimum of 150 minutes of moderate physical activity per week with the aim of achieving 5-7% weight reduction; thus, we excluded studies that solely tested the impacts of dietary advice. We used medical subject heading and free text terms related to diabetes and prevention (see Appendix for further details.)

To be considered for inclusion, studies had to meet three inclusion criteria. First, the study needed to report on a DPP-based intervention in the US and describe both the exercise and dietary components of the intervention. Second, studies had to involve patients ≥ 18 years old who were at high risk of diabetes. "High risk" was defined as participants who met any definition of prediabetes – any abnormal screening glucose or oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) measure indicating impaired fasting glucose (IFG), impaired glucose tolerance (IGT), or a random blood glucose between 110-199 mg/dl. The multi-ethnic population of the US has higher rates of diabetes among Asian Americans, Hispanics, and non-Hispanic blacks compared to non-Hispanic whites.⁵ Therefore we chose to evaluate populations who qualified as high risk by criteria additional to the traditional classification by blood glucose testing. This other accepted definition of "high risk" is based on the American Diabetes Association's guidelines for diabetes screening and include participants who were overweight (body mass index [BMI] ≥ 25 kg/m²) with one additional risk factor (such as race [African American, Latino, Native American, Asian American, or Pacific Islander], strong family history, or a personal history of abnormal blood pressure (BP), high density lipoprotein [HDL], triglycerides, cardiovascular disease [CVD], or gestational diabetes [GDM]). The final criterion was that studies must have also reported pre- and post-intervention data on at least one of the following measures: weight, HbA1c, or fasting blood glucose (venous or capillary).

We excluded studies that were based outside the US, involved children or adolescents, or if the lifestyle intervention did not conform to the principles tested in the DPP trial. Interventions that included medications (including metformin) were also excluded. Studies that involved patients with previously diagnosed diabetes (unless it was less than 50% of the study population), polycystic ovarian syndrome, current pregnancy, or participants who were recently post-partum patients were also excluded.

Abstracts were reviewed by two independent authors who used pre-specified search criteria to determine study eligibility. All discrepancies were resolved by consensus of the study team. When data was not fully reported, authors were contacted for further study details.

Quality Assessment

The DPP trial findings already established that standard lifestyle advice alone has very a low level of efficacy in terms of reducing diabetes incidence. Also, in the trial, adherence to lifestyle principles, and weight loss in particular, were correlated with reduction in diabetes incidence.¹⁸ Additionally, most translation studies have small sample sizes and limited funding, and are most commonly designed with a single group, pre- and post- intervention design which makes allocation and blinding largely irrelevant.⁹ Therefore, to assess the quality of the studies included and provide

meaningful data to aid readers' interpretation of the available literature, we applied a modified scoring system based on Jüni's criteria to evaluate each study on five criteria.¹⁹

First, the target population must have been defined as high risk using at least two of the following measures: self-reported risk factors (race, family history), blood glucose testing, or anthropometric measurements (e.g., BMI). The second criterion assessed whether studies used steps to minimize bias from attrition by using an intention to treat analysis, achieving low attrition rates ($\leq 20\%$), or comparing characteristics of completers and non-completers. The third criterion was focused on credibility of study findings based on whether studies had sample sizes ≥ 100 participants or provided estimates of precision (uncertainties or distribution of the estimates). The fourth criterion was that the study should have reported on four or more of the following aspects of translating their evidence: describing the process of designing the program, describing the enrollment process, documenting session attendance, reporting costs and/or resource inputs, documenting the training process or qualifications of personnel, or describing the qualitative feedback from participants or providers. Lastly, we noted the studies that had a control group (randomized, matched, or unmatched comparison). Further details are in the Appendix.

Data Analysis

Data on study populations, study design, characteristics of the intervention (number of core and follow up sessions, duration of intervention and follow up time period), and data on baseline and follow up values for each outcome (weight, FBG, and HbA1c) were systematically extracted and compiled into a database. Descriptive characteristics of the study populations were pooled and mean estimates were weighted according to sample size. Data for the change and standard errors for each of the three outcomes were analyzed with the statistical software Mix 2.0 to determine the absolute mean change in each outcome from baseline to the last reported time point. We used a random-effects meta-analysis model to account for heterogeneity between studies which was quantified with the I² and corresponding χ^2 p-value for heterogeneity. All data from each pre-post intervention were pooled, and each study was weighted

proportionally to the inverse of the variance, which account for sample size through the use of standard error.

Results

A total of thirty-two studies met eligibility for inclusion in this meta-analysis by reporting one or more outcomes of interest. Twenty four articles from the initial review were included, with eight new studies published from April 2011 to April 2013. All studies reported weight change, seventeen had preand post-intervention data on FBG (capillary or venous), and six had follow up measures on HbA1c. Eighteen studies were single group pre-post studies, four studies had two intervention arms with pre-post study design (each contributing two separate groups for analysis), and ten studies had separate control arms, resulting in thirty-six distinct single pre-post groups.

In total, there were 5,094 participants enrolled in the studies. On average, participants' mean age was 54.5 years, 73.1% were female, and BMI was 34.0 kg/m². Across all studies combined, non-Hispanic whites (NHW) accounted for 54.8% of study populations, though many community focused studies, for example, those based in African American churches and Latino communities, had single-race/ethnicity populations. Of the thirty-six groups, eleven used some type of glucose measure to classify participants' risk for diabetes, eighteen used BMI with an additional risk factor, and seven allowed either definition to classify risk status.

Programs most commonly made modifications to the original DPP intervention by changing the number or duration of core sessions (originally sixteen sessions offered over 24 weeks), offering group sessions (instead of individual one-on-one sessions), modifying the type of lifestyle coach (originally qualified dieticians), and by changing or removing the monthly maintenance where participants were seen face-to-face every 2 months for the remainder of the follow up period to promote continued adherence.

Regarding characteristics of different interventions, the number of core sessions offered ranged from one to twenty-four, with a mean of 13.1 core sessions offered and 10.8 sessions attended (range: 1.0 to 22.5). Twenty-one interventions offered a maintenance component, which varied from emails to intermittent group sessions. Average study duration was 8.94 +/- 4.07 months (range: 3 to 15 months.) Across all studies, overall attrition was 19.11% (range: 0.00 to 43.18%).

Findings Stratified by Outcome

Across all studies, mean baseline weight was 100.00 ± 8.58 kg and mean absolute weight change was -4.18 kg (95% CI [-5.12; -3.24], I² 99.28%, p for heterogeneity of 0.00) (As seen in Figure 1). When only studies with a control arm were analyzed, the incremental weight loss was 2.84 kg higher for intervention versus control groups.

The six studies which evaluated HbA1c showed a mean baseline HbA1c of $5.78 \pm 0.33\%$ and an average change of -0.19% (95% CI [-0.28; -0.11], I² 84.74%, p for heterogeneity of 0.00.) (As seen in Figure 2) The analysis of the seventeen studies reporting FBG showed a baseline of 105.00 ± 5.06 mg/dl and mean change over the course of all studies was -2.68 mg/dl(95% CI [-4.15; -1.11] I² 91.33 %, p for heterogeneity of 0.00.) (As seen in Figure 3).

Table 1

Value	Number of	Mean baseline	Mean follow up	Mean change
	studies			(95% CI)
Weight (kg)	32	100.00 +/ 8.58	95.80	-4.20(-5.12; -3.24)
A1c (%)	6	5.78 +/- 0.33	5.59	-0.19 (-0.28; -0.11)
FBG (mg/dl)	17	105.00 +/- 5.06	102.32	-2.63(-4.15; -1.11)





Figure 1: Analysis of all thirty-six study groups which reported weight change from baseline to end of follow up period. Data was analyzed with Mix 2.0 using random effects method with the weighting of each study proportional to the inverse of the variance. Study weight is indicated by the size of the box, and horizontal lines indicate the 95% confidence interval. The red line indicates the overall percentage weight change, and summary diamond indicates pooled estimate with reported mean (95% CI).



Figure 2: Mean change in fasting blood glucose in study participants

Figure 2: Analysis of all seventeen study groups which reported fasting blood glucose values from baseline to the end of follow up period. Data was analyzed with Mix 2.0 using random effects method with the weighting of each study proportional to the inverse of the variance. Study weight is indicated by the size of the box, and horizontal lines indicate 95% confidence interval. The red line indicates the overall percentage weight change, and summary diamond indicates pooled estimate with reported mean (95% CI).



Figure 3: Mean change in A1c in study participants

Figure 3: Analysis of all six study groups which reported change in hemoglobin A1c from baseline to end of follow up period. Data was analyzed with Mix 2.0 using random effects method with the weighting of each study proportional to the inverse of the variance. Study weight is indicated by the size of the box, and horizontal lines indicate 95% confidence interval. The red line indicates the overall percentage weight change, and summary diamond indicates pooled estimate with reported mean (95% CI).

Discussion

This is the first meta-analysis to estimate the aggregate impact of intensive diabetes prevention lifestyle interventions on weight *and* glycemic measures. Most translation studies of the DPP have limited their evaluations to the effect of an intensive lifestyle intervention on weight. A mean decrease in HbA1c of 0.2% is known to correlate with approximately a 2.8 mg/dl decrease in the estimated average serum glucose levels, which is concordant with our findings.

The baseline characteristics of those who enrolled had similar age, BMI, fasting glucose, and A1c when compared to those of the original DPP, but a slightly higher starting weight (100.0 vs. 94.1 kg) and higher percentage of females (72.3 vs. 68.0%).⁹ The original DPP participants had a greater mean weight loss than the participants in our study (5.6 kg vs. 4.2 kg), which was likely due to the more resource intensive intervention with more sessions, individualized support, tailoring of the intervention to an ethnically diverse population, possibly higher motivated enrollees, and longer duration of follow-up to promote adherence.⁹ However, this weight loss correlates well with the Finnish Diabetes Prevention Study (DPS) participants who had a similar weight loss of 4.2 kg.⁷ When we compared all intervention studies with their respective control groups, the incremental change in weight was approximately 2.9 kg greater weight loss.

These differences are likely secondary to modifications made to the DPP, often in an attempt to decrease cost. Over 80% of the study populations had group interventions, fewer mean core sessions were offered (13.1 sessions compared to sixteen), and only 58% offered a maintenance component. Additionally, the method of delivery of the intervention was variable, as some interventions were clinic based, others community based, and some self-directed using virtual media support (video conference or internet-based intervention delivery).

In the studies that reported glycemic measures, participants also had similar baseline values of glycemia as in the DPP, with a mean baseline FBG of 105.0 mg/dl (vs. 106.3 mg/dl) and HbA1c of 5.8% (vs. 5.9%). In the DPP, mean FBG decreased by approximately 5.0 mg/dl and mean A1c decreased by 0.10%. In the DPS, mean FBG decreased by 4.0 mg/dl. The participants in the translation studies had a

less significant decrease in glucose (2.7 mg/dl) however had a greater decrease in HbA1c (0.2%). However, the results for HbA1c and glucose likely do not correlate with each other as different studies reported on these measures, and many which reported on FBG did not report on HbA1c. For people with diabetes, every percentage point drop in HbA1c can reduce the risk of microvascular complications (eye, kidney and nerve) by 40% but it is still unclear how reductions in HbA1c affect those who do not yet meet criteria for the diagnosis of diabetes, such as in our study population⁵.

Additionally, the DPP enrolled patients with both impaired glucose tolerance (IGT) and impaired fasting glucose, who are at approximately 3 times higher risk of diabetes compared to those with impaired fasting glucose alone³. The Finnish DPS used patients classified only by OGTT, who are only at slightly higher risk (1.2 times) compared to those with IFG alone³. No translation studies in the US solely used the oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) to determine high risk status, which suggests the participants in the DPP-translation studies are at slightly lower risk. Assuming the participants are at a lower baseline risk, it would be more difficult to find significant decreases in glucose measures. Previous evaluation of people without diabetes at baseline showed a hazard ratio for death from any cause of 1.10 (95% CI 1.09-1.11). for each 18 mg/dl (or 1 mmol/dl) increase above 100 mg/dl (assuming a log linear relationship above the 100 mg/dl.)²⁰

Within the participants in the DPP translation studies, rates of enrollment were approximately the same (72%) when we compare the individual vs. group interventions with no significant difference in rates of attrition. The programs that reported their findings were most often by practitioners who reported their work in this field, leading to geographic clustering of studies found in Georgia, Montana, and Pennsylvania. With the recent CDC rollout of the national DPP, six multi-state organizations were recently granted the funding to expand the availability and geographic reach of these programs. There is also a growing number of centers across the US who are becoming recognized by the CDC's National Diabetes Prevention Program as recognized providers of diabetes prevention lifestyle interventions if they utilize the curriculum that was initially developed and evaluated by the DPP.²¹

The participants who agreed to participate in the DPP are likely more motivated and interested in losing weight than that of the general population; our study, therefore, is a better representation of the typical real-life high-risk populations in the US. Among the studies we examined, there were three main definitions of target communities—geographic, ethnic, and workplace. In groups with higher levels of social cohesion, such as one intervention in an African American church, participants continued to meet for a year after the conclusion of the program. The three studies with the lowest rates of attrition were based in churches and workplaces. These settings are more convenient as participants do not have to find additional time to travel to participate in these interventions. Qualitative feedback from participants showed the importance of tailoring the intervention to be more culturally appropriate, especially in immigrant populations where language and cultural/religious norms may differ.

The original DPP showed the superiority of lifestyle changes to metformin-- these programs are more efficacious in decreasing the incidence of diabetes, more sustainable given the changes in exercise which persisted after 4 years, have less side effects than metformin, and have collateral benefits for blood pressure and lipid levels. However, currently, the availability, accessibility, and likelihood of insurance reimbursement for a lifestyle program is much lower than that for metformin, which is likely the largest barrier to real-world translation. The high rates of enrollment (72%) illustrate the demand among patients, especially once they are aware of their risk status.

Limitations

The main limitation of our analysis was the heterogeneity of the studies included, which is inherent given our desire to include all currently available data. As of now, there are still limited data on real-life implementation of lifestyle modification programs to prevent diabetes and few that have well-designed, large sample-size studies. To contend with the variability between the studies, as reflected by the high I² values, we used a random effects model to account for heterogeneity between studies. These sources of heterogeneity were most likely secondary to differences in the designs of intervention studies, such as different durations of follow-up (from 3 to 15 months), location of delivery, and modifications to

the original DPP program. Other sources of heterogeneity include differences in the populations under evaluation (racially, geographically and by level of risk). Variability in reporting methods likely contributed to discrepancies in the data as well. And lastly, even if these differences were equalized, multiple small studies are not likely to generate the same results as one large study.

However this is the first meta-analysis to evaluate the intermediate cardiovascular risk factor changes in DPP based interventions. To minimize missing or incomplete data, all attempts to contact authors were made. Overall, the population of interest had similar baseline characteristics, and despite heterogeneity, our findings correlate fairly well with those of the DPP and DPS. Additionally, this analysis is the first to aggregate the limited available data.

Conclusion

Despite the modifications made to the original DPP intervention, the translation into real world settings still accomplished similar decreases in weight, FBG and HbA1c as the original DPP study. However, it is still unclear how and if these changes truly translate into reductions in diabetes incidence. Although this meta-analysis represents the aggregate of available translation studies, it is still unclear how to scale up lifestyle interventions while maintaining effective delivery to culturally and socially diverse populations. No clear predictors of enrollment, weight loss, or attrition emerged and given the relatively short durations of these interventions, the long term sustainability and clinical significance will need to be assessed further.

Implications and future directions

Diabetes is fortunate to have an early, reliable predictor of the development of disease. This is currently a missed opportunity to intervene, as most often patients are told to lose weight and make dietary changes. However, the ability of standard advice alone was shown ineffective in the DPP and confirmed by our findings. At the level of the healthcare provider, this clearly indicates the need for both appropriate diagnosis and referral of patients with prediabetes to structured lifestyle modification intervention programs, which are rapidly increasingly in availability.²¹ Additionally, both patients and communities need to work together in the development of these programs to encourage lifestyle changes and education on dietary changes with a focus on increased exercise in their own communities to help implement change in an evidence based manner.²² Although convenience and social cohesion, likely play a role in compliance, other factors that influence patient participation and attrition remain unclear. Finally, the support of insurance companies is needed to cover the costs of enrollment, which have decreased significantly with the provision of group interventions with lay community or media delivery. These changes have started to develop as America's Health Insurance Plans (AHIP) has started to offer lifestyle programs in four states at this time (including Florida, New Mexico, New York, and Texas.)²¹

Many of these programs show great promise in decreasing the cost, incidence, morbidity and mortality of diabetes, however sustainability of the intervention has not yet been established. It is still unclear if ongoing maintenance is needed to keep the participants from progressing to diabetes, and to date there have been no large scale studies of longer duration to provide evidence on the differences in incidence of diabetes, especially when participants of different risk levels (i.e. lower than the combined IFG-IGT participants in the DPP). Lastly, the most critical piece, which is still missing, is a clear understanding of methods to both increase uptake and decrease attrition to enable long lasting, sustainable lifestyle changes, especially in patients with the highest risk of progression to diabetes and all associated complications.

Appendix

Exhibit A: Search strategy.



This flow chart describes the number of studies that were involved in each step of the process of study selection, from the initial study search. After the application of inclusion and exclusion criteria, 32 studies met criteria and were included in the final analysis.

Exhibit B: List of search terms

Cochrane Database (from April 2011 to April	ClinicalTrials.gov (from April 2011 to April 2013)					
2013)	92 studies					
78 studies						
#1 "Overweight/prevention & control"[Mesh]	#1 overweight prevention					
#2 "Obesity/prevention & control"[Mesh]	#2 obesity prevention					
#3 "Glucose Intolerance"[Mesh]	#3 glucose intolerance					
#4 "Prediabetic State"[Mesh]	#4 impaired glucose tolerance					
#5 "Diabetes Mellitus/prevention & control"	#5 impaired fasting glucose					
[Mesh]	#6 impaired fasting glycemia					
#6 "Diabetes Mellitus, Type 2/prevention & control"[Mesh]	#7 metabolic syndrome prevention					
#7 "Prediabetic State/prevention &	#8 diabetes prevention					
control"[Mesh]	#9 diabetes risk reduction					
#8 "Metabolic Syndrome X/prevention & control"[Mesh]	Limits: Studies with results, Interventional Studies, English, adults/seniors					
#9 "Prediabetic State/therapy"[Mesh]						
#10 "Diabetes Prevention"						
#11 "Diabetes risk reduction"						
#12 OR / 1 -11						
#13 Weight Loss						
#14 Lifestyle						
#15 OR/ 13-14						
#18 12 AND 15						
Limits: English, Humans, Publication Date from 2011 to 2013, product type: trials						

Exhibit B (continued)

Medline via PubMed (from April 2011 to April	EMBASE (from April 2011 to April 2013)					
2013)	1291 studies					
1426 studies						
#1 "Overweight/prevention & control"[Mesh]	#1 overweight prevention					
#2 "Obesity/prevention & control"[Mesh]	#2 obesity prevention					
#3 "Glucose Intolerance"[Mesh]	#3 glucose intolerance					
#4 "Prediabetic State"[Mesh]	#4 impaired glucose tolerance					
#5 "Diabetes Mellitus/prevention & control" [Mesh]	#5 impaired fasting glucose					
#6 "Diabetes Mellitus, Type 2/prevention &	#6 impaired fasting glycemia					
	#7 metabolic syndrome prevention					
#7 "Prediabetic State/prevention & control"[Mesh]	#8 diabetes prevention					
#8 "Metabolic Syndrome X/prevention & control"[Mesh]	#9 diabetes risk reduction					
#9 "Prediabetic State/therapy"[Mesh]	# 10 OR/ 1-9					
#10 "Diabetes Prevention"	#11 weight loss					
#11 "Diabetes risk reduction"	#12 lifestyle					
#12 OR / 1 -11	# 13 OR/ 10-11					
#13 Weight Loss	#14 10 AND 13					
#14 Lifestyle	Limits: English, Publication Date from 2011/04/01 to 2013/04/01					
#15 Preventive Health Services						
#16 Program evaluation						
#17 OR/13-10						
#18 12 AND 18						
Limits: English, Humans, Publication Date from 2011/04/01 to 2013/04/01						

Exhibit C: List of Articles

		Patient characteristics				Intervention			
						characteristics			
Study	Study name (year) group	Age	n	Male	NHW	Baseline	Core	Months	Sessions
number	паше	(years)		70	70	DIVII	Sessions	follow	(individual) (i) or
								up	group (g))
1	Ackermann-(2008) ²³	56.5	46	50.0	93.0	32.00	16	12	g
2	Aldana-(2005) ²⁴	46.0	37	34.3	48.6	32.01	16	12	g
3	Almeida-(2010) ²⁵	62.4	820	48.0	70.0	29.80	1	12	g
4	Boltri-(2008) ²⁶	52.0	8	42.0	0.0	31.60	16	12	g
5	Boltri-(2011) ²⁷	57.2	37	30.0	0.0	33.20	12	12	g
6	Davis-Smith-(2007) ²⁸	55.9	10	30.0	0.0	35.70	6	12	g
7	Estabrooks-(2008) ²⁹	57.8	39	28.2	69.0	-	12	3	Ι
8	Faridi-(2010) ³⁰	49.0	121	15.0		33.80	variabl	12	i
					0.0		e		
9	Harwell $(2011)^{31}$	-	989	19.0	-	-	16	10	g
10	Jaber-(2010) ³²	47.0	71	27.0	0.0	34.30	12	6	g
11	Katula-(2011) ³³	57.3	151	43.0	73.5	32.81	24	12	g
12	Kramer-(2009) phase 1 ³⁴	52.9	51	18.0	73.0	36.60	12	3	g
-	Kramer-(2009) phase 2^{34}	57.2	42	21.0	100.0	34.60	12	12	g
13	Kramer-(2010)- DVD ³⁵	57.3	22	29.0	83.0	32.85	12	3	Ι
-	Kramer-(2010)- GROUP ³⁵	61.0	26	29.0	83.0	35.09	12	3	g
14	Kramer-(2011) ³⁶	53.0	81	12.3	96.0	37.10	12	3	g
15	Ma (2013) coach ³⁷	54.6	79	51.9	77.2	31.80	12	15	g
-	Ma (2013) internet ³⁷	51.8	81	44.3	79.0	31.70	24	15	i
16	Matvienko-(2009) ³⁸	55.7	31	39.0	94.0	36.10	16	12	i
17	Mau-(2010) ³⁹	49.0	239	17.0	0.0	39.10	8	3	g
18	McBride-(2008) ⁴⁰	51.9	40	41.0	100.0	37.40	12	12	g
19	McTigue-(2009) internet ⁴¹	51.9	50	24.0	86.0	36.40	16	12	g
20	McTigue-(2009) Willow ⁴²	53.0	81	17.0	86.0	38.89	12	12	g
21	Ockene-(2012) ⁴³	52.0	162	28.0	0.0	33.57	16	12	Both
22	Pagoto-(2008) ⁴⁴	48.7	118	28.0	90.7	43.30	16	4	g
23	Parikh-(2010) ⁴⁵	46.0	50	14.0	2.0	32.00	8	12	g
24	Ruggiero (2011) ⁴⁶	37.9	69	7.2	0.0	31.19	16	12	g
25	Seidel-(2008) ⁴⁷	54.0	88	15.9	72.7	36.20	12	6	g
26	Swanson (2012) ⁴⁸	62.0	221	33.0	88.0	31.20	4	6	g
27	Tate-(2003) ⁴⁹	49.8	46	9.0	89.0	32.50	5	12	Ι
28	Vadheim-(2010) ⁵⁰	50.5	101	12.0	92.5	36.20	16	10	g
29	Vadheim-(2010) onsite ⁵¹	53.0	13	31.0	-	34.00	16	4	g
-	Vadheim-(2010)	50.0	14	7.0		38.70	16	4	g
	telehealth ⁵¹	-			-				5

30	Vanderwood-(2010) ⁴⁷	52.3	100	20.0		35.10	16	10	g
			3		92.5				
31	Whittemore-(2009) ⁵²	48.2	31	10.0	48.0	40.00	11	6	Ι
32	Yeary-(2011) ⁵³	50.8	26	15.0	0.0	35.00	16	4	g

References:

1. Cheng YJ, Imperatore G, Geiss LS, et al. Secular Changes in the Age-Specific Prevalence of Diabetes Among U.S. Adults: 1988-2010. Diabetes Care 2013.

2. Boyle JP, Thompson TJ, Gregg EW, Barker LE, Williamson DF. Projection of the year 2050 burden of diabetes in the US adult population: dynamic modeling of incidence, mortality, and prediabetes prevalence. Popul Health Metr 2010;8:29.

3. Gerstein HC, Santaguida P, Raina P, et al. Annual incidence and relative risk of diabetes in people with various categories of dysglycemia: a systematic overview and meta-analysis of prospective studies. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2007;78:305-12.

4. Bullard KM, Saydah SH, Imperatore G, et al. Secular changes in u.s. Prediabetes prevalence defined by hemoglobin a1c and fasting plasma glucose: national health and nutrition examination surveys, 1999-2010. Diabetes Care 2013;36:2286-93.

5. National diabetes fact sheet: national estimates and general information on diabetes and prediabetes in the United States. In: Services USDoHaH, ed. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. ; 2011.

6. Association AD. Economic Costs of Diabetes in the U.S. in 2012. Diabetes Care 2013.

7. Lindstrom J, Eriksson JG, Valle TT, et al. Prevention of diabetes mellitus in subjects with impaired glucose tolerance in the Finnish Diabetes Prevention Study: results from a randomized clinical trial. J Am Soc Nephrol 2003;14:S108-13.

8. Tuomilehto J, Lindstrom J, Eriksson JG, et al. Prevention of type 2 diabetes mellitus by changes in lifestyle among subjects with impaired glucose tolerance. N Engl J Med 2001;344:1343-50.

9. Knowler WC, Barrett-Connor E, Fowler SE, et al. Reduction in the incidence of type 2 diabetes with lifestyle intervention or metformin. N Engl J Med 2002;346:393-403.

10. Ramachandran A, Snehalatha C, Mary S, Mukesh B, Bhaskar AD, Vijay V. The Indian Diabetes Prevention Programme shows that lifestyle modification and metformin prevent type 2 diabetes in Asian Indian subjects with impaired glucose tolerance (IDPP-1). Diabetologia 2006;49:289-97.

11. Eriksson KF, Lindgarde F. Prevention of type 2 (non-insulin-dependent) diabetes mellitus by diet and physical exercise. The 6-year Malmo feasibility study. Diabetologia 1991;34:891-8.

12. Kosaka K, Noda M, Kuzuya T. Prevention of type 2 diabetes by lifestyle intervention: a Japanese trial in IGT males. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2005;67:152-62.

13. The 10-year cost-effectiveness of lifestyle intervention or metformin for diabetes prevention: an intent-to-treat analysis of the DPP/DPPOS. Diabetes Care 2012;35:723-30.

14. Within-trial cost-effectiveness of lifestyle intervention or metformin for the primary prevention of type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2003;26:2518-23.

15. Hernan WH, Brandle M, Zhang P, et al. Costs associated with the primary prevention of type 2 diabetes mellitus in the diabetes prevention program. Diabetes Care 2003;26:36-47.

16. Coutinho M, Gerstein HC, Wang Y, Yusuf S. The relationship between glucose and incident cardiovascular events. A metaregression analysis of published data from 20 studies of 95,783 individuals followed for 12.4 years. Diabetes Care 1999;22:233-40.

17. Ali MK, Echouffo-Tcheugui J, Williamson DF. How effective were lifestyle interventions in realworld settings that were modeled on the Diabetes Prevention Program? Health Aff (Millwood) 2012;31:67-75.

18. Hamman RF, Wing RR, Edelstein SL, et al. Effect of weight loss with lifestyle intervention on risk of diabetes. Diabetes Care 2006;29:2102-7.

19. Juni P, Altman DG, Egger M. Systematic reviews in health care: Assessing the quality of controlled clinical trials. BMJ 2001;323:42-6.

20. Seshasai SR, Kaptoge S, Thompson A, et al. Diabetes mellitus, fasting glucose, and risk of cause-specific death. N Engl J Med 2011;364:829-41.

21. National Diabetes Prevention Program 2012. (Accessed 7/31/2013, 2013, at http://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/prevention/index.htm.)

22. Brownson RC, Fielding JE, Maylahn CM. Evidence-based public health: a fundamental concept for public health practice. Annu Rev Public Health 2009;30:175-201.

23. Ackermann RT, Finch EA, Caffrey HM, Hays LM, Saha C. Successful implementation of a large, community-based comparative effectiveness trial of the Diabetes Prevention Program (DPP). Diabetes 2011;60:A11.

24. Aldana SG, Barlow M, Smith R, et al. The diabetes prevention program: a worksite experience. AAOHN J 2005;53:499-505; quiz 6-7.

25. Almeida FA, Shetterly S, Smith-Ray RL, Estabrooks PA. Reach and effectiveness of a weight loss intervention in patients with prediabetes in Colorado. Prev Chronic Dis 2010;7:A103.

26. Boltri JM, Davis-Smith YM, Seale JP, Shellenberger S, Okosun IS, Cornelius ME. Diabetes prevention in a faith-based setting: results of translational research. J Public Health Manag Pract 2008;14:29-32.

27. Boltri JM, Davis-Smith M, Okosun IS, Seale JP, Foster B. Translation of the National Institutes of Health Diabetes Prevention Program in African American churches. J Natl Med Assoc 2011;103:194-202.

28. Davis-Smith YM, Boltri JM, Seale JP, Shellenberger S, Blalock T, Tobin B. Implementing a diabetes prevention program in a rural African-American church. J Natl Med Assoc 2007;99:440-6.

29. Estabrooks PA, Smith-Ray RL. Piloting a behavioral intervention delivered through interactive voice response telephone messages to promote weight loss in a pre-diabetic population. Patient Educ Couns 2008;72:34-41.

30. Faridi Z, Shuval K, Njike VY, et al. Partners reducing effects of diabetes (PREDICT): a diabetes prevention physical activity and dietary intervention through African-American churches. Health Educ Res 2010;25:306-15.

31. Harwell TS, Vanderwood KK, Hall TO, Butcher MK, Helgerson SD. Factors associated with achieving a weight loss goal among participants in an adapted Diabetes Prevention Program. Prim Care Diabetes 2011;5:125-9.

32. Jaber LA, Pinelli NR, Brown MB, et al. Feasibility of group lifestyle intervention for diabetes prevention in Arab Americans. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2011;91:307-15.

33. Katula JA, Vitolins MZ, Rosenberger EL, et al. One-year results of a community-based translation of the Diabetes Prevention Program: Healthy-Living Partnerships to Prevent Diabetes (HELP PD) Project. Diabetes Care2011:1451-7.

34. Kramer MK, Kriska AM, Venditti EM, et al. Translating the Diabetes Prevention Program: a comprehensive model for prevention training and program delivery. Am J Prev Med 2009;37:505-11.

35. Kramer MK, Kriska AM, Venditti EM, et al. A novel approach to diabetes prevention: evaluation of the Group Lifestyle Balance program delivered via DVD. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2010;90:e60-3.

36. Kramer MK, McWilliams JR, Chen HY, Siminerio LM. A community-based diabetes prevention program: evaluation of the group lifestyle balance program delivered by diabetes educators. Diabetes Educ 2011;37:659-68.

37. Ma J, Yank V, Xiao L, et al. Translating the Diabetes Prevention Program lifestyle intervention for weight loss into primary care: a randomized trial. JAMA Intern Med 2013;173:113-21.

38. Matvienko OA, Hoehns JD. A lifestyle intervention study in patients with diabetes or impaired glucose tolerance: translation of a research intervention into practice. J Am Board Fam Med 2009;22:535-43.

39. Mau MK, Keawe'aimoku Kaholokula J, West MR, et al. Translating diabetes prevention into native Hawaiian and Pacific Islander communities: the PILI 'Ohana Pilot project. Prog Community Health Partnersh 2010;4:7-16.

40. McBride PE, Einerson JA, Grant H, et al. Putting the Diabetes Prevention Program into practice: a program for weight loss and cardiovascular risk reduction for patients with metabolic syndrome or type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Nutr Health Aging 2008;12:745S-9S.

41. McTigue KM, Conroy MB, Hess R, et al. Using the internet to translate an evidence-based lifestyle intervention into practice. Telemed J E Health 2009;15:851-8.

42. McTigue KM, Conroy MB, Bigi L, Murphy C, McNeil M. Weight loss through living well: translating an effective lifestyle intervention into clinical practice. Diabetes Educ 2009;35:199-204, 8.

43. Ockene IS, Tellez TL, Rosal MC, et al. Outcomes of a Latino community-based intervention for the prevention of diabetes: the Lawrence Latino Diabetes Prevention Project. Am J Public Health 2012;102:336-42.

44. Pagoto SL, Kantor L, Bodenlos JS, Gitkind M, Ma Y. Translating the diabetes prevention program into a hospital-based weight loss program. Health Psychol 2008;27:S91-8.

45. Parikh P, Simon EP, Fei K, Looker H, Goytia C, Horowitz CR. Results of a pilot diabetes prevention intervention in East Harlem, New York City: Project HEED. Am J Public Health 2010;100 Suppl 1:S232-9.

46. Ruggiero L, Oros S, Choi YK. Community-based translation of the diabetes prevention program's lifestyle intervention in an underserved Latino population. Diabetes Educ 2011;37:564-72.

47. Seidel MC, Powell RO, Zgibor JC, Siminerio LM, Piatt GA. Translating the Diabetes Prevention Program into an urban medically underserved community: a nonrandomized prospective intervention study. Diabetes Care 2008;31:684-9.

48. Swanson CM, Bersoux S, Larson MH, et al. An outpatient-based clinical program for diabetes prevention: an update. Endocr Pract 2012;18:200-8.

49. Tate DF, Jackvony EH, Wing RR. Effects of Internet behavioral counseling on weight loss in adults at risk for type 2 diabetes: a randomized trial. JAMA 2003;289:1833-6.

50. Vadheim LM, Brewer KA, Kassner DR, et al. Effectiveness of a lifestyle intervention program among persons at high risk for cardiovascular disease and diabetes in a rural community. J Rural Health 2010;26:266-72.

51. Vadheim LM, McPherson C, Kassner DR, et al. Adapted diabetes prevention program lifestyle intervention can be effectively delivered through telehealth. Diabetes Educ 2010;36:651-6.

52. Whittemore R, Melkus G, Wagner J, Dziura J, Northrup V, Grey M. Translating the diabetes prevention program to primary care: a pilot study. Nurs Res 2009;58:2-12.

53. Yeary KH, Cornell CE, Turner J, et al. Feasibility of an evidence-based weight loss intervention for a faith-based, rural, African American population. Prev Chronic Dis 2011;8:A146.